#### 1 IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 2 \*\*\*\* 3 S. Ct. No. 859 Electronically Filed ADRIAN POWELL, D.C. NO.: A-2May 3263-09:30 PM Petitioner, Eližábeth A. Brown 5 Clerk of Supreme Court 6 VS. 7 THE STATE OF NEVADA, 8 Respondent. 9 10 APPELANT'S OPENING BRIEF 11 12 Colleen Savage, Esq. STEVEN B. WOLFSON, ESQ. Nevada Bar No. 14947 Nevada Bar No. 1565 13 SGRO & ROGER Clark County District Attorney 14 720 S. 7th Street, 3rd Floor Clark County District Attorney's Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 15 Office | 200 Lewis Avenue Telephone: (702) 384-9800 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 16 Facsimile: (702) 665-4120 (702) 671-2500 17 csavage@sgroandroger.com Attorney for Respondent Attorney for Appellant

# **STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION**

This Court has appellate jurisdiction over the instant matter pursuant to Nev. Rev. Stat. § 177.015(3). The Appellant appeals from the Finding of Facts and Conclusion of Law and Order filed on December 19, 2022. A timely Notice of Appeal was filed on January 11, 2023.

-7-

### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

# I. <u>INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL</u>

# II. <u>CUMULATIVE ERROR</u>

#### **ROUTING STATEMENT**

Appellant is appealing the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order based upon a Post-Conviction Writ of Habeas Corpus. Therefore, pursuant to N.R.A.P. 17(b)(2)(B), this appeal is presumptively routed to the Court of Appeals.

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

On November 8, 2017, an Indictment was returned in the District Court charging Defendants Larenzo Pinkey, and Adrian Powell with two (2) counts of Conspiracy To Commit Robbery (Category B Felony - NRS 200.380, 199.480), two (2) counts of Burglary While In Possession Of A Deadly Weapon (Category B Felony - NRS 205.060), three (3) counts of First Degree Kidnapping With Use Of A Deadly Weapon (Category A Felony - NRS 200.310, 200.320, 193.165), seven (7) counts of Robbery With Use Of A Deadly Weapon (Category B Felony - NRS 200.380, 193.165) and one (1) count of Unlawful Taking Of Vehicle (Gross Misdemeanor - NRS 205.2715). (Exhibit "A" at 1-8). All charges stemmed from robberies that occurred at a Pepe's Tacos restaurant and a Walgreens store in Las Vegas, Nevada on September 28, 2017. *Id*.

On November 13, 2017, the defendant Mr. Powell was arraigned on the aforementioned charges in the Eighth Judicial District Court. Michael Kane Esq. was appointed on the case, and subsequently Roy Nelson Esq. was appointed to assist Mr. Kane. (See Joint Appendix; Volume II, at APP000427 - APP000436). Over the course of the next eight months, Mr. Kane met with Mr. Powell approximately two times. (JA, II; APP000437). Mr. Nelson allegedly met with Mr. Powell once with Mr. Kane. (JA, II; APP000437 - APP000438). The case ultimately proceeded to jury trial on July 30, 2018. Voir Dire commenced on Monday, July 30, 2018. (JA, II; APP000428). Court concluded for the day, and the parties returned the following day to resume jury selection. (JA, II; APP000431). That morning, negotiations commenced, and Mr. Kane was shown a whiteboard with various other robberies that the State claimed to be pursuing. Id. Upon information and belief Mr. Nelson was not present during this negotiation period. The State threatened to charge Mr. Powell with these charges unless the plea deal was taken. (JA, II; at APP000443 - APP000444). The State also offered to take life sentence off the table. *Id*.

23

24

25

26

27

28

22

Mr. Powell agreed to plead guilty pursuant to the Guilty Plea Agreement after Mr. Kane advised Mr. Powell to take the deal after stating that he would spend the rest of his life in prison if he did not. (JA, II; APP000322-APP000327).

 Mr. Powell pled guilty, the jury was discharged, and a sentencing date was set. On October 31, 2018, prior to sentencing, Mr. Powell expressed concerns regarding his counsel and the guilty plea agreement, and his current counsel, Michael Kane was withdrawn and Monique McNeil, Esq. was appointed. On January 14, 2019, Petitioner filed a Motion to Withdraw Guilty Plea, requesting an evidentiary hearing. (*Id.*). On February 5, 2019, the State filed its Opposition. (JA, II; APP000335- APP000356). On February 27 2019, the District Court denied Petitioner's motion without conducting an evidentiary hearing.

On May 22, 2019, Petitioner was sentenced to the Nevada Department of Corrections as follows: as to Count 1 – twelve (12) to forty-eight (48) months; as to Count 2 – thirty-six (36) to one hundred twenty (120) months concurrent with Count 1; as to Count 3 – five (5) to fifteen (15) years with a consecutive term of thirty-six (36) to ninety-six (96) months for use of a deadly weapon concurrent with Count 2; as to Count 4 – thirty-six (36) to one hundred twenty (120) months with a consecutive term of thirty-six (36) to ninety-six (96) months for use of a deadly weapon concurrent with Count 3; as to Count 5 – thirty-six (36) to one hundred twenty (120) months with a consecutive term of thirty-six (36) to ninety-six (96) months for use of a deadly weapon concurrent with Count 4; as to Count 6 - thirty-six (36) to one hundred twenty (120) months with a consecutive term of thirty-six (36) to ninety-six (96) months for use of a deadly weapon concurrent

25

26

27

28

with Count 5; as to Count 7 - thirty-six (36) to one hundred twenty (120) months with a consecutive term of thirty-six (36) to ninety-six (96) months for use of a deadly weapon concurrent with Count 6; as to Count 8 - twelve (12) to fortyeight (48) months concurrent with Count 7; as to Count 9 – thirty-six (36) to one hundred twenty (120) months concurrent with Count 8; as to Count 10 - thirty-six (36) to one hundred twenty (120) months with a consecutive term of thirty-six (36) to ninety-six (96) months for use of a deadly weapon concurrent with Count 7; as to Count 11 - thirty-six (36) to one hundred twenty (120) months with a consecutive term of thirty-six (36) to ninety-six (96) months for use of a deadly weapon concurrent with Count 10; as to Count 13 - five (5) to fifteen (15) years with a consecutive term of thirty-six (36) to ninety-six (96) months for use of a deadly weapon consecutive to Count 3; and as to Count 14 - thirty-six (36) to one hundred twenty (120) months with a consecutive term of thirty-six (36) to ninetysix (96) months for use of a deadly weapon concurrent with Count 11, with six hundred two (602) days credit for time served. The aggregate total sentence was five hundred fifty-two (552) months maximum with a minimum parole eligibility of one hundred ninety-two (192) months. (JA, II; APP000410- APP000413). The Judgment of Conviction was filed on May 24, 2019. Id.

The Defendant filed a direct appeal to the Nevada Supreme Court challenging only the Court's denial of his Motion to Withdraw his Guilty Plea on

June 14, 2019. The Nevada Supreme Court reversed and remanded to the district court to conduct an evidentiary hearing on May 11, 2020. (JA, II; APP000416 - APP000419). Remittitur was issued on June 5, 2020. (JA, II; APP000421).

The Court conducted an Evidentiary Hearing on August 13, 2020, at which only Mr. Kane was called as a witness to testify. (JA, II; APP000423-APP000459). Mr. Nelson was not requested to appear by Ms. McNeil. *Id.* Following the testimony, the Court found the Petitioner was not entitled to relief. (JA, II; APP000454- APP000459). The Court found there was no ineffective assistance of counsel and no grounds or fair and just reason to withdraw Petitioner's plea. *Id.* The Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order was filed on March 4, 2021. (JA, II; APP000481). Ms. McNeil failed to file a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post Conviction) and failed to counsel Petitioner on his ability to do so.

On August 10, 2021, Ms. McNeil filed a declaration stating that she failed to file a timely Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post Conviction). (JA, III; APP000498- APP000499). On August 10, 2021, Petitioner filed the pro se Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction). (JA, III; APP000501-APP000521). On September 9<sup>th</sup>, 2021, the state filed a Response to the Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post Conviction).

11

10

12 13

14 15

16

17 18

19

2.1

22

20

23 24

25 26

27

28

On October 14, 2021, Mr. Powell filed a Motion to Dismiss Ms. McNeil as counsel. (JA, III; APP000557- APP0005563). District Court granted the Motion to Dismiss Ms. McNeil on November 29, 2021. (JA, III; APP000566). Undersigned counsel, Colleen Savage, Esq. was subsequently appointed on January 26, 2022.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Adrian Powell and Larenzo Pinkey were arrested on September 28, 2017. (JA, I; APP000199- APP000200). The following is a summary of the victims' testimony from the Grand Jury presentation, as well as a summary of the forensic evidence and the circumstantial evidence that may have been presented at trial.

A. Testimony of Jose Chavarria

Jose Alfredo Chavarria Valenzuela was working as a cook at Pepe's Tacos located at 2490 Fremont Street, Las Vegas, Nevada on September 28, 2017. (JA, I; APP000032- APP000033). At approximately 2:40 AM, Chavarria was in kitchen area when two men entered the restaurant. (JA, I; APP000035. Chavarria ran toward the back refrigerator where his co-worker was located, when one of the men jumped the counter, followed Chavarria and pointed a gun at him. Id. The man allegedly pointed his gun at Chavarria and Chavarria jumped on the ground. It is alleged that Chavarria was directed from the back of the store to the front cash registers who was unable to open the till because he did not have the

correct password. (JA, I; APP000036). The second man then retrieved Chavarria's coworker to assist Chavarria in opening the cash registers. (JA, I; APP000037). One of the men then took Chavarria to the second cash register, where he was either thrown to the ground or ordered to his knees, Chavarria's testimony is unclear. *Id.* The men then took the money from the cash registers but did not take any property from Chavarria. (JA, I; APP000037 - APP000038).

Testimony of Yenir Hessing

Yenir Hessing works as the shift lead at the Walgreens located at 4470 East Bonanza, Las Vegas, Nevada. (JA, I; at APP00007). On September 28, 2017, Hessing was working the graveyard shift with four other Walgreens employees when, at approximately 4:05 AM, two masked gunmen entered the store. (JA, I; APP00008 – APP00010).

Hessing was stocking the shelves in the food aisle when one of the men allegedly pointed a gun at her, demanding she move to the front of the store where he told her to open the three cash registers, which Hessing did. *Id.* At that moment, another Walgreens employee, Tifnie Bobbitt returned from lunch and was ordered toward the office located at the back of the store. (JA, I; APP00010).

Upon reaching the back office, Hessing entered the code and Hessing and Bobbitt were ordered in. (JA, I; APP00015 – APP00016). In the office, it is alleged that the man began hitting Hessing in the ribs with the gun and

demanding that she open the safe. (JA, I; APP00017). Hessing opened the first of two safes and the man grabbed everything. *Id*. The man then demanded Hessing open the second safe, which she did. *Id*. The gunman grabbed the contents from the second safe and fled. *Id*.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Mr. Powell's legal representation has continuously and spectacularly failed to meet the reasonable standard expected and guaranteed to him by the Sixth Amendment. These errors prejudiced his defense in literally every stage of the case, from pre-trial litigation, to negotiating the plea agreement, and even during post-conviction proceedings. Not only was Mr. Powell subjected to ineffective assistance by his trial counsel, but he was failed by the attorney who was appointed to remedy trial counsel's prior errors. Trial counsel undermined Mr. Powell's defense during their pre-litigation representation by failing to challenge unconstitutionally permitted charges by not challenging anything via motion practice. Counsel also failed to properly investigate alibi witnesses and failed to reveal the conflict of interest that prevented Mr. Powell from receiving effective assistance of counsel.

Michael C. Kane, Esq. was Mr. Powell's appointed counsel up to the entry of the guilty plea agreement. Supposedly, he has tried approximately twenty (20) civil cases. (JA, II; APP00446). Recognizing his own lack of experience, Mr.

APP00436, APP00445). Apparently, unbeknownst to Mr. Kane, Mr. Nelson was suffering from documented substance abuse issues which were impacting his ability to perform his duties as an attorney. (JA, III; APP00621, APP00678; IV; APP000679). Mr. Kane was representing a client facing three life sentences and an additional one hundred and fifty years in prison on fifteen (15) charges having never tried a criminal case. (JA, I; APP000201 – APP000210). On top of all of that, the horrific loss of his newly born twins during this same period of time. (JA, II; APP00446). Prior to trial, Mr. Kane only visited Mr. Powell "two to three times" with Mr. Nelson only attending one of those visits. (JA, II; APP00439 – APP000431). Not surprisingly, then, pretrial investigation and motion practice was virtually nonexistent. This created an untenable, powerless, and unfair position for Mr. Powell.

Kane added Roy Nelson, a criminal trial lawyer, as first chair. (JA, II;

Amazingly, Mr. Powell suffered from the fact that both of his lawyers were dealing with substantial personal ordeals and tragedies that placed Mr. Powell in the untenable position of having to rely upon them for key decisions, including entry of plea. (JA, II; at APP00456 – APP000458; JA, III; APP000621 – APP000678; and JA, IV; APP000679). At the time originally set for sentencing hearing, Mr. Powell expressed concern regarding his guilty plea agreement and his reliance on counsel which prompted the court to dismiss trial counsel and

2.1

plea for Mr. Powell, her subsequent representation was plagued with missed deadlines. (JA, II; APP00322 – APP000334; and JA, III; APP000498 – APP000499). The combined effect of the ineffective assistance of counsel, the trial court's refusal to grant motion to withdraw guilty plea agreement, and the unconstitutionality of the dual criminal liability of the charges were contrary to clearly established Nevada Law and resulted in decisions all to the detriment of Mr. Powell. Mr. Powell now respectfully requests that this Court grant this Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus for the purposes set forth herein.

appoint Ms. McNeil. While Ms. McNeil filed the motion to withdraw the guilty

# LEGAL ARGUMENT

# III. <u>INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL</u>

The Sixth Amendment right to counsel has been recognized by the United States Supreme Court which includes the right to "the effective assistance of counsel" during criminal proceedings. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 686, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 2063, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984) (citing McMann v. Richardson, 397 U.S. 759, 771, n. 14, 90 S.Ct. 1441, 1449, n. 14, 25 L.Ed.2d 763 (1970)). When measuring any claim of ineffectiveness, the standard is "whether counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the proceeding cannot be relied on as having produced a just result." *Paine v. State*, 110 Nev. 609, 620, 877 P.2d 1025, 1031

(1994) (Overruled on other grounds by Leslie v. Warden, 118 Nev. 773, 59 P.3d 440 (2002)).

As the Second Circuit Court of Appeals held, the proper standard for attorney performance is that of reasonably effective assistance. *See Trapnell v. United States*, 725 F.2d, at 151-152. The Court indirectly recognized as much when it stated in *McMann v. Richardson*, supra, 397 U.S., at 770, 771, 90 S.Ct., at 1448, 1449, that a guilty plea cannot be attacked when based on inadequate legal advice unless trial counsel was not "a reasonably competent attorney" and the advice was not "within the range of competence demanded of attorneys in criminal cases." *See also Cuvier v. Sullivan*, supra, 446 U.S., at 344, 100 S.Ct., at 1716.

When a convicted defendant complains of the ineffectiveness of counsel's assistance, the defendant must show that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687-88. In order to establish that representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, defendants must meet the factors set forth within the *Strickland* test:

• "First, the defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient. This requires showing that counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the 'counsel' guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment.

• Second, the defendant must show that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. This requires showing that counsel's errors were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable."

#### A. PRE-LITIGATION INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL

Mr. Powell experienced prejudice from the onset when he was first appointed trial counsel. Defendants have an incredible reliance on their counsel not only during trial, but through the entire process of litigation. Defense counsel has the responsibility to defend against extraneous charges and engage in pretrial motion practice, which is an objective standard for competent, effective representation. Instead, Mr. Powell was left helpless as his counsel entirely failed to engage in any pretrial motion practice challenging the probable cause for any of these charges which deprived him of a fair trial and prejudiced the defense from the start. Mr. Powell's inability to challenge any charges prior to trial, combined with inexperienced, distracted counsel left him vulnerable to the adversarial process.

# a. Trial Counsel Failed to Object to Fatally Flawed Complaint.

The State's Indictment charged Mr. Powell with three counts of First-Degree Kidnapping in relation to the alleged robbery victims. (JA, I; APP00201 – APP000210). Each of these charges carried a potential life sentence, which was the harshest punishment contained in the charging document. *Id.* Trial counsel

longstanding Nevada law giving a defendant the right to prevent dual criminal liability when kidnapping charges overlap with robbery charges. Had trial counsel been successful in dismissing the Kidnapping Charges during pretrial motion practice, it would have changed the entire dynamic of plea negotiations, and, ultimately, Mr. Powell's decision to plead guilty.

The ability to attack the kidnapping charges was available from the start of this case. Under Nevada law, the test found in *Mendoza* differentiated the movement that was incidental to robbery as opposed to kidnapping where the movement (1) substantially increase the risk of harm; and (2) substantially exceeds that required to complete the associated crime. *Mendoza v. State*, 122 Nev. 267, 274-75, 130 P.3d 176, 180-81 (2006).

failed to engage in any pretrial motion practice to contest these charges, despite

In the instant matter, Grand Jury testimony revealed that the robbery victims were only moved as a means for the suspects to carry out the robbery. The intent of the suspects in each robbery was to steal money from both locations via cash register and safe. In Mr. Chavarria's case, this could not be accomplished due to Mr. Chavarria being unable to open the cash register resulting in him ending up on the ground. (JA, I; APP00037). In Ms. Hessing's case, this could not be accomplished without Ms. Hessing opening the cash registers in the front of the store or the safe in the office. In other words, all

8

7

10 11

12 13

15

14

17

16

18 19

20

21 22

23

25

26

27

28

movement of the victims that took place was incidental and necessary in order to commit the robberies. (JA, I; at APP0007 – APP00017).

So long as the kidnapping is incidental to the robbery, defense counsel can attack the kidnapping charges prior to trial. Sheriff, Clark County v. Medberry, 96 Nev. 202, 204, 606 P. 2d 181, 182 (1980); Langford v. State, 95 Nev. 631, 638-639, 600 P.2d 231, 236-37 (1979). This is a case where the grounds are clear. Counsel's failure to attack the kidnapping counts left three life sentences on the table, which turned out to be one of the main sources of leverage the State used to coerce Powell into signing the plea agreement. (JA, I; at APP000443). Had trial counsel filed a pretrial Writ of Habeas Corpus Mr. Powell would have had the opportunity to argue for dismissal of the kidnapping charges. However, because there was not a pretrial Writ of Habeas Corpus filed, and the joinder filed by trial counsel was dismissed as untimely, it placed Mr. Powell at a significant disadvantage when it came time to negotiate a plea deal. Mr. Powell was prejudiced by this deficient performance because there existed a reasonable probability that some, if not all, of the kidnapping charges would have been dismissed. Had these charges been dismissed, there is a significant probability that Powell would have rejected the State's offer and insisted on going to trial

Not only did trial counsel fail to submit a Pretrial Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus on Mr. Powell's behalf, trial counsel failed to file a single pretrial

motion. Mr. Powell's counsel did not contest a single piece of evidence with pretrial motion practice. Notably, there was not one motion pertaining to suppression of evidence, jury questionnaires, voir dire methodologies, nor opening statements. The record is wholly deficient, making it nearly impossible for Mr. Powell to create a defense on the spot at trial.

# A. INEFFECTIVE ASSITANCE OF COUNSEL AT THE PRETRIAL AND TRIAL STAGE

# a. A Conflict of Interest Developed Between Defense Counsel and the Client During the Case.

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