IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

---

ADRIAN POWELL,  
Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,  
Respondent.

Electronically Filed  
Aug 22 2023 05:36 PM  
Elizabeth A. Brown  
Clerk of Supreme Court

Case No. 85955

**RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF**

**Appeal From Denial of a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus  
Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County**

COLLEEN SAVAGE, ESQ.  
Nevada Bar #014947  
Sgro & Roger  
720 S. 7th Street, 3rd Floor  
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101  
(702) 384-9800

STEVEN B. WOLFSON  
Clark County District Attorney  
Nevada Bar #001565  
Regional Justice Center  
200 Lewis Avenue  
Post Office Box 552212  
Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212  
(702) 671-2500

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

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Appellant's habeas petition is procedurally barred as time-barred, and the application of the procedural bars is mandatory. Appellant's failure to raise substantive issues regarding the constitutionality of his convictions for both robbery and kidnapping on direct appeal means they are waived. Res Judicata bars

---

<sup>1</sup> The State has contemporaneously filed a Motion to Transmit Presentence Investigation Report with the instant Answering Brief.

Appellant's claims regarding the voluntariness of the plea and whether counsel misled him about his sentence, as the district court previously addressed them. Moreover, Appellant has not demonstrated good cause or prejudice to overcome the procedural bars. Additionally, Appellant did not receive ineffective assistance of counsel. Appellant's trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to file a futile pre-trial motion. Appellant fails to establish any conflict of interest between himself and counsel. Appellant fails to establish counsel did not conduct a thorough investigation. Appellant fails to establish counsel was ineffective for not acquiring the discovery for the dismissed cases. Appellant fails to establish trial counsel was ineffective for not raising other issues on appeal, for not calling Nelson to testify, and for not advising him of his right to file a habeas corpus petition. Furthermore, Appellant knowingly and voluntarily entered his plea of guilty, despite his claims to the contrary. Notably, cumulative error does not apply to claims regarding ineffective assistance of counsel. Finally, Appellant was not entitled to another evidentiary hearing.

### **ARGUMENT**

This Court reviews the district court's application of the law de novo, and gives deference to a district court's factual findings in habeas matters. State v. Huebler, 128 Nev. 192, 197, 275 P.3d 91, 95 (2012), cert. denied, 133 S. Ct. 988 (2013). A claim of ineffective assistance of counsel presents a mixed question of law

and fact that is subject to independent review. However, a district court's factual findings will be given deference by this Court on appeal, so long as they are supported by substantial evidence and are not clearly wrong. Lader v. Warden, 121 Nev. 682, 686, 120 P.3d 1164, 1166 (2005). While this Court gives deference to the district court's factual findings if supported by substantial evidence and not clearly erroneous, this Court reviews the district court's application of the law to those facts de novo. Id.

## **I. APPELLANT'S PETITION IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED**

Appellant's Petition is time-barred. The Petition was not filed within the one-year statutory limit after the Judgment of Conviction. Thus, the Petition is time-barred pursuant to NRS 34.726(1):

Unless there is good cause shown for delay, a petition that challenges the validity of a judgment or sentence must be filed within 1 year of the entry of the judgment of conviction or, if an appeal has been taken from the judgment, within 1 year after the Supreme Court issues its remittitur. For the purposes of this subsection, good cause for delay exists if the petitioner demonstrates to the satisfaction of the court:

- (a) That the delay is not the fault of the petitioner; and
- (b) That dismissal of the petition as untimely will unduly prejudice the petitioner.

The Nevada Supreme Court has held that NRS 34.726 should be construed by its plain meaning. Pellegrini v. State, 117 Nev. 860, 873–74, 34 P.3d 519, 528 (2001). As per the language of the statute, the one-year time bar proscribed by NRS 34.726 begins to run from the date the judgment of conviction is filed or a remittitur

from a timely direct appeal is filed. Dickerson v. State, 114 Nev. 1084, 1087, 967 P.2d 1132, 1133–34 (1998).

The one-year time limit for preparing petitions for post-conviction relief under NRS 34.726 is strictly applied. In Gonzales v. State, 118 Nev. 590, 596, 53 P.3d 901, 904 (2002), the Nevada Supreme Court rejected a habeas petition that was filed two (2) days late despite evidence presented by the defendant that he purchased postage through the prison and mailed the petition within the one-year time limit.

This is not a case wherein the Judgment of Conviction was, for example, not final. See, e.g., Johnson v. State, 133 Nev. 571, 402 P.3d 1266 (2017) (holding that the defendant’s judgment of conviction was not final until the district court entered a new judgment of conviction on counts that the district court had vacated); Whitehead v. State, 128 Nev. 259, 285 P.3d 1053 (2012) (holding that a judgment of conviction that imposes restitution in an unspecified amount is not final and therefore does not trigger the one-year period for filing a habeas petition). Nor is there any other legal basis for running the one-year time-limit from the filing of the Amended Judgment of Conviction. Thus, Appellant had one year from the filing of his *original* Judgment of Conviction to file a timely petition. Absent a showing of good cause to excuse this delay, Appellant’s Petition and Supplement must be dismissed.

Here, given that Appellant’s Judgment of Conviction was never vacated, there is no legal basis for running the one-year time-limit from anything but the date of Remittitur. Remittitur issued on June 5, 2020. RA 022-23. Thus, Appellant had one year from June 5, 2020, to file his Petition. Appellant did not file his Petition until August 10, 2021, over two (2) months late. III JA 0501-21. Absent a showing of good cause and prejudice to excuse this delay, and noting that Appellant failed to include any argument for good cause to overcome the procedural bars, (IV JA 0749), the district court properly denied Appellant’s Petition and its decision should be affirmed.

**A. Application of the Procedural Bars Is Mandatory**

The Nevada Supreme Court has held that the district court has a *duty* to consider whether a defendant’s post-conviction petition claims are procedurally barred. State v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court (Riker), 121 Nev. 225, 231, 112 P.3d 1070, 1074 (2005). The Riker Court found that “[a]pplication of the statutory procedural default rules to post-conviction habeas petitions is mandatory,” noting:

Habeas corpus petitions that are filed many years after conviction are an unreasonable burden on the criminal justice system. The necessity for a workable system dictates that there must exist a time when a criminal conviction is final.

Id. Additionally, the Court noted that procedural bars “cannot be ignored [by the district court] when properly raised by the State.” Id. at 233, 112 P.3d at 1075. The

Nevada Supreme Court has granted no discretion to the district courts regarding whether to apply the statutory procedural bars; the rules *must* be applied.

This position was reaffirmed in State v. Greene, 129 Nev. 559, 307 P.3d 322 (2013). There the Court ruled that the defendant’s petition was “untimely, successive, and an abuse of the writ” and that the defendant failed to show good cause and actual prejudice. Id. at 324, 307 P.3d at 326. Accordingly, the Court reversed the district court and ordered the defendant’s petition dismissed pursuant to the procedural bars. Id. at 324, 307 P.3d at 322–23. The procedural bars are so fundamental to the post-conviction process that they must be applied by this Court even if not raised by the State. See Riker, 121 Nev. at 231, 112 P.3d at 1074.

**B. Issues That Are Not Raised on Direct Appeal Are Waived**

Appellant’s substantive claims regarding the constitutionality of his convictions for both robbery and kidnapping are waived. See AOB at 19-21.

NRS 34.810(1) reads:

The court shall dismiss a petition if the court determines that:

(a) The petitioner’s conviction was upon a plea of guilty or guilty but mentally ill and the petition is not based upon an allegation that the plea was involuntarily or unknowingly or that the plea was entered without effective assistance of counsel.

(b) The petitioner’s conviction was the result of a trial and the grounds for the petition could have been:

...

(2) Raised in a direct appeal or a prior petition for a writ of habeas corpus or postconviction relief.

The Nevada Supreme Court has held that “challenges to the validity of a guilty plea and claims of ineffective assistance of trial and appellate counsel must first be pursued in post-conviction proceedings.... [A]ll other claims that are appropriate for a direct appeal must be pursued on direct appeal, or they will be *considered waived in subsequent proceedings.*” Franklin v. State, 110 Nev. 750, 752, 877 P.2d 1058, 1059 (1994) (emphasis added) (disapproved on other grounds by Thomas v. State, 115 Nev. 148, 979 P.2d 222 (1999)). “A court must dismiss a habeas petition if it presents claims that either were or could have been presented in an earlier proceeding, unless the court finds both cause for failing to present the claims earlier or for raising them again and actual prejudice to the petitioner.” Evans v. State, 117 Nev. 609, 646-47, 29 P.3d 498, 523 (2001).

NRS 34.810 (1)(a) specifically states that if a conviction was based upon a plea of guilty, the Court shall dismiss a petition if the claim is one other than “that the plea was involuntarily or unknowingly entered or that the plea was entered without effective assistance of counsel.” As such, the only claims Appellant could raise in a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus must be those related to whether his plea was involuntarily or unknowingly entered, or whether he received ineffective assistance of counsel.

In reviewing a district court’s ruling on a pre-sentence motion to withdraw a plea, ““this Court will presume that the lower court correctly assessed the validity of

the plea and will not reverse absent a clear showing of an abuse of discretion.” Riker v. State, 111 Nev. 1316, 1322, 905 P.2d 706, 710 (1995) (quoting Bryant v. State, 102 Nev. 268, 272, 721 P.2d 364, 368 (1986)); Mitchell v. State, 109 Nev. 137, 138, 848 P.2d 1060, 1060 (1993). “An abuse of discretion occurs if the district court’s decision is arbitrary or capricious or if it exceeds the bounds of law or reason.” Jackson v. State, 117 Nev. 116, 120, 17 P.3d 998, 1000 (2001). To show that the district court abused its discretion, the defendant has the burden of proving that the district court failed to consider the totality of the circumstances when determining whether the defendant knowingly and intelligently entered the plea. Stevenson v. State, 131 Nev. 598, 603, 354 P.3d 1277, 1281 (2015); Crawford v. State, 117 Nev. 718, 721-22, 30 P.3d 1123, 1125-26 (2001). This Court must give deference to the factual findings made by the district court in the course of a motion to withdraw a guilty plea as long as they are supported by the record. Little v. Warden, 117 Nev. 845, 854, 34 Pd. 3d 540, 546 (2001).

The district court properly denied this claim, as Appellant alleges he cannot be convicted for both kidnapping and robbery within his ineffective assistance of counsel claim. AOB at 19-21. This is a substantive claim that should have been raised on direct appeal. Therefore, it is waived, and Appellant has failed to demonstrate good cause or prejudice to overcome the procedural bars. Furthermore, Appellant unconditionally waived his right to challenge this issue:

By entering my plea of guilty, I understand that I am waiving and forever giving up the following rights and privileges:

...

The right to appeal the conviction with the assistance of an attorney, either appointed or retained, unless specifically reserved in writing and agreed upon as provided in NRS 174.035(3). I understand this means I am unconditionally waiving my right to a direct appeal of this conviction, including any challenge based upon reasonable constitutional, jurisdictional, or other that challenge the legality of the proceedings as stated in NRS 177.015(4). However, I remain free to challenge my conviction through other post-conviction remedies including a habeas corpus petition pursuant to NRS Chapter 34

II JA 0298.

Regardless, Appellant's substantive claim is meritless. A jury could have found the movement "substantially exceeds that required to complete the associated crime charged." Mendoza v. State, 122 Nev. at 274-75, 130 P.3d at 180. As such, he could have been punished for both robbery and kidnapping. Thus, Appellant's claim was properly denied and this Court should affirm.

**C. Res Judicata Bars Appellant's Claims, as the District Court Previously Addressed Them**

Res Judicata bars Appellant's claims regarding the voluntariness of the plea and whether counsel misled him about his sentence. See AOB at 28-31. The decisions of the district court are final decisions absent a showing of changed circumstances, and relitigation of claims is barred by the doctrine of res judicata. See Mason v. State, 206 S.W.3d 869, 875 (Ark. 2005) (recognizing the doctrine's

applicability in the criminal context); see also York v. State, 342 S.W. 528, 553 (Tex. Crim. Appl. 2011). Accordingly, by simply continuing to file motions with the same arguments, his motion is barred by the doctrines of the law of the case and res judicata. Id.; Hall v. State, 91 Nev. 314, 316, 535 P.2d 797, 799 (1975).

This is not Appellant's first attempt to claim that the entry of his plea was unknowingly and involuntarily. The district court previously ruled on a similar claim:

Therefore, any claim from Petitioner that he was coerced into entering his plea is belied by the record and suitable for only summary denial under Hargrove, 100 Nev. at 502, 686 P.2d at 225. Any claim that Petitioner was coerced lacks merit. **Accordingly, this Court finds that Petitioner knowingly and voluntarily entered his guilty plea.** Thus, the Court finds no "the fair and just" reason to have withdrawn Petitioner's guilty plea

III JA 0474 (emphasis added). Appellant then claims counsel misled him about possible sentencing ranges. The district court also denied this claim:

Petitioner's counsel never promised him 6 to 15 years. Rather, Mr. Kane went over the Guilty Plea Agreement several times with the Petitioner. At the Evidentiary Hearing on August 13, 2020, Mr. Kane testified that he never told the Defendant he would receive 6 to 15 years. The Court found Mr. Kane's testimony to be credible. As such, Defendant's claim that he was "misled" or "convinced" to plead guilty is belied by the record and suitable only for summary of denial. Hargrove, 100 Nev. at 502, 686 P.2d at 225.

Id. at 0478. Appellant also reraises a claim regarding counsel’s investigation of new charges which the district court also denied:

The Defendant has not yet established that the State could not have proved the new charges with the evidence it presented to Defendant. Thus, Defendant has not established that counsel was objectively unreasonable for not further investigating the police reports and witness statements or that he was at all prejudiced by this alleged failure. Because Defendant cannot establish either Strickland prong, this claim is denied.

Appellant has already litigated these issues resulting in the denial of his claims by this Court. Further litigation violates the principles of Res Judicata. Therefore, these claims were properly denied and the district court’s decision should be affirmed.

**D. Appellant Has Not Shown Good Cause or Prejudice to Overcome the Procedural Bars**

Appellant attempts to claim that he “experienced prejudice from the onset when he was first appointed trial counsel.” AOB at 19. However, Appellant fails to demonstrate good cause to overcome the procedural bars, and his claims of prejudice are belied by the record.

To avoid procedural default under NRS 34.726 and NRS 34.810, a defendant has the burden of pleading and proving specific facts that demonstrate good cause for his failure to present his claim in earlier proceedings or comply with the statutory requirements. See Hogan, 109 Nev. at 959-60, 860 P.2d at 715-16; Phelps, 104 Nev. at 659, 764 P.2d at 1305.

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